


	

	

 
 
 
 
 

WACO Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
October 2, 2018 

Historic Davenport Hotel 
10 S Post ST 

Spokane, WA 99201 
 

Draft Minutes 
 

Tuesday, October 2, 2018 
 
Board Members Present: 

Ilene Thomson President Yakima Treasurer 
Dianne Dorey Vice-President Lewis Assessor 
Jerry Pettit 2nd Vice-President Kittitas Auditor 
Greg Zempel Secretary/Treasurer Kittitas Prosecutor 
Tammie Ownbey Immediate Past-President Pend 

Oreille 
Clerk 

Tim Davidson Past-President Cowlitz Coroner 
Mike Lonergan Assessors Trustee Pierce Assessor/Treasurer 
Debbie Adelstein Auditors Trustee Whatcom Auditor 
Peggy Semprimoznik Clerks Trustee Lincoln Clerk 
Warren McLeod Coroners Trustee Lewis Coroner 
Adam Kick Prosecutors Trustee Skamania Prosecutor 

Josie Koelzer Treasurers Trustee Franklin Treasurer 
Barb Miner Trustee at Large Position 1 King Clerk 
Linda Hjelle Trustee at Large Position 2 Snohomish Assessor 
Dave Cook Trustee at Large Position 3 Yakima Assessor 
Lisa Frazier Trustee at Large Position 4 Mason Treasurer 
Thad Duvall Trustee at Large Position 5 Douglas Auditor 
Milene Henley Trustee at Large Position 6 San Juan Auditor 

 
Staff Present: 

John Scott Blonien Executive Director 
Jennifer Wallace Deputy Director 
Timothy Grisham Director of Communications 
Lisa Gancel Finance and Administrative Manager 
Michael Shaw Contract Lobbyist 

 
 



	

Guests Present: 
Blair Brady WSAC President 
Eric Johnson WSAC Executive Director 
Terry McLaughlin Cowlitz County Assessor 
Rose Ann Carroll Jefferson County Auditor 
Stacie Prada Jefferson County Treasurer 
Meredith Green Kitsap County Treasurer 
Marianne Nichols Pend Oreille County Auditor 
Salina James Washington Association of Prosecuting Attorneys 

 
 
1) Call to Order: Ilene Thomson, President called the meeting to order at 8:00 

a.m. 
 
2) Roll Call of Attending Members 
President Thomson called for a roll call. Rob Snaza, Sheriffs Trustee noted as absent. 
 
3) Approval to Agenda 
Tim Davidson, Past-President MOVED to adopt the agenda as proposed. Greg Zempel, 
Secretary/Treasurer  SECONDED the motion. The MOTION CARRIED unanimously.  
 
4) Approval of Minutes 
Dianne Dorey, Vice-President MOVED to adopt the minutes as proposed. Past-President 
Davidson SECONDED the motion. The MOTION CARRIED unanimously.  
  
5) New Business 

a. Board Retreat 
Vice-President Dorey announced details of the Board of Trustees retreat to be held during 
the week of the Newly Elected Officials (NEO) conference. A hotel block will be set up 
for the Holiday Inn Express in Chehalis. 
 

b. Strategic Plan Update 
Debbie Adelstein, Auditors Trustee stated that WACO staff has prepared a report to help 
the Board plan a new Strategic Plan. Trustee Adelstein stated that she would like to see 
the report shared with the members for feedback as the board begins work on a new 
Strategic Plan. 
  

c. Long Term WACO Funding 
President Thomson led a discussion on long term funding for WACO. The discussion 
included the budget approval process, how members seek budget approval in their own 
counties, the WSAC budget process, and multi-annual budget impacts such as audits and 
NEO. 
 
Secretary/Treasurer Zempel MOVED that for the 2020 Budget, WACO adopt a similar 
process as WSAC and identify restricted funds for semi-annual events. Jerry Pettit, 2nd 
Vice-President SECONDED the motion.  



	

 
Secretary/Treasurer Zempel AMENDED THE MOTION to specify that building 
maintenance and tech infrastructure be specified as part of the multi-annual events. 2nd 
Vice-President Pettit ACCEPTED the amendment.  
 
Further discussion was held on whether the motion was too open or too narrow. Lisa 
Frazier, Trustee at Large Position 4 CALLED FOR THE QUESTION. 
 
The MOTION CARRIED unanimously. Milene Henley, Trustee at Large Position 6 
Abstained. 
 

d. Future Conferences 
1. Conference Committee 

President Thomson led a discussion on whether to continue the ad-hoc Conference 
Committee for 2019. The Board indicated that they would like to continue the ad-hoc 
committee. 
 

2. Hospitality Suite 
A discussion was held on the hospitality suite. Scott Blonien, Executive Director noted 
that WACO did not pay for any alcohol and that 2018’s hospitality suite was hosted by 
the coroners with funding through sponsorship monies. He noted that in the past, prior to 
the coroners hosting the suite, the affiliate that the WACO President belonged to 
provided the suite. 
 
The Board discussed that switching to a vendor model, while advantageous from a 
funding perspective, may have ethics implications that need to be explored. A suggestion 
of member donations to fund the suite was made. 
 
President Thomson referred the matter to the ad-hoc Conference Committee. 
 

e. Nominations/Elections Policy 
President Thomson noted that during the course of nominations this year, Nomination 
Committee Chair, Brenda Chilton discovered that the Nominations and Elections Policy 
is out of alignment with Bylaws the Alternative Means Voting policy.  
 
2nd Vice-President Pettit MOVED to accept the proposed changes to the Nominations 
and Elections Policy with the exception of the change to 2. b. exempting current board 
members from answering membership questions, removing the strikethrough for “3. f.” in 
the numbering syntax, and fixing the “for/form” typo; as well as changing 3. i. to read, 
“When at all possible the trustees will be sworn in at the banquet of the annual 
conference, or at any other time.” Trustee at Large Frazier SECONDED the motion. The 
MOTION CARRIED unanimously. 
 
The Board went on BREAK at 9:31 a.m. and RECONVENED at 9:40 a.m. 
 
6) Executive Session for Personnel Review 



	

The Board announced a 30-minute EXECUTIVE SESSION at 9:40 a.m. to conduct a 
personnel review. 
 
The Board EXTENDED the EXECUTIVE SESSION for an additional 10 minutes at 
10:20 a.m. 
 
The Board EXTENDED the EXECUTIVE SESSION for an additional 10 minutes at 
10:30 a.m. 
 
No action was taken during the EXECUTIVE SESSION. 
 
7) Audit Committee Report 
Secretary/Treasurer Zempel provided the Audit Committee Report and thanked Lisa 
Gancel and the committee for their work. Trustee at Large Frazier MOVED to accept the 
report findings. Thad Duvall, Trustee at Large Position 5 SECONDED the motion. The 
MOTION CARRIED unanimously. 
 
8) Finance Report 
Lisa Gancel, Finance Manager provided the Finance Report. 
 
9) Committee Reports 

a. Education Committee Report 
2nd Vice-President Pettit provided the Education Committee Report. 
 

b. Legislative Committee Report 
Vice-President Dorey provided the Legislative Committee Report. 
 
10) Education Strategic Action Plan 
Executive Director Blonien discussed developing an Education Strategic Action Plan, 
similar to the Legislative Strategic Action Plan. He stated that this could inform the 
overarching Strategic Plan. He discussed the struggles that the Education Committee 
faced determining training topics for all members. 
 
President Thomson asked if the Education Committee could take on this work. Tammie 
Ownbey, Immediate Past-President MOVED to make the Education Strategic Action 
Plan an Education Committee priority. Trustee at Large Duval SECONDED the motion. 
The MOTION CARRIED unanimously. 

 
11) Executive Directors Report 
Executive Director Blonien provided the Executive Directors Report. Secretary/Treasurer 
Zempel asked if there was a process to determine if WACO should enter an Amicus Brief 
on litigation. Executive Director Blonien stated that policies and procedures are currently 
blind to any process. 
 
12) Affiliate Priority Legislation Discussion 



	

Jennifer Wallace, Deputy Director provided an overview of the proposed pieces of 
WACO Priority Legislation for the 2019 legislative session. Past-President Davidson 
discussed the coroners proposals, Meredith Green, Kitsap County Treasurer discussed the 
Treasurers’ plan to use the year to form strategic alliances with other stakeholder groups 
and raise awareness on personnel property and mobile homes, Terry McLaughlin, 
Cowlitz County Assessor discussed the senior exemption bill, and Marianne Nichols, 
Pend Oreille County Auditor discussed the Auditor proposals. 
 
2nd Vice-President Pettit MOVED to recommend the 2019 Proposals with the exception 
of the Sheriffs’ salary bill. Trustee at Large Frazier SECONDED the motion. The 
MOTION CARRIED unanimously. 
 
The Board went on BREAK at 11:52 a.m. and RECONVENED at 12:10 p.m. 
 
13) Legislative Plan Update 
Jennifer Wallace provided an updated on the Legislative Action Plan. 
 
14) Old Business 

a. NEO Conference 
Executive Director Blonien provided a brief update on NEO. 
 
15) Communications Report 
Timothy Grisham, Communications Director provided a brief Communications Report. 
 
16) Trustee Reports 
No trustee reports presented. 
 
The meeting ADJORNED at 12:55 p.m. 

















	

	
	
	

WACO LEGAL BRIEF POLICY 
 
Purpose 
The purpose of the WACO Legal Brief Policy is to assure a systematic process to 
determine WACO’s participation in judicial matters when providing legal briefs. It 
is recognized that in some instances, WACO has a significant interest in shaping 
the issues and arguments presented to the court. Recognizing that the 
Washington State Constitution; federal, state, and local statutes; and federal, 
state, and local regulations define the counties’ executive officials’ authorities and 
powers – WACO should use the legal brief process to present its unique point of 
view. The WACO Board of Directors may amend this policy at any time. 
 
Policy and Procedure 
WACO shall use the following policy and procedure to determine their 
participation in judicial matters when providing legal briefs. 
 

1. General Provisions 
a. WACO generally limits its involvement to Supreme Court cases. 

WACO reserves the option to begin its involvement at the state or 
federal courts of appeal, or in extraordinary circumstances in 
Superior Court. 

b. WACO generally limits its involvement to cases that have the 
potential to impact any of its affiliates or the operation of their 
offices. 

c. WACO does not provide direct financial support for court cases. 
Rather, WACO involvement depends upon the availability of 
resources, including in-house general counsel, Washington 
Association of Prosecuting Attorneys staffing, elected prosecuting 
attorneys or appointed deputy prosecuting attorneys from individual 
county office(s), or special deputies appointed by a prosecuting 
attorneys from an individual county. 

2. Who Can Request a Legal Brief  
a. The request to participate in a legal brief must come from the 

relevant affiliate president or a member of the WACO Board of 
Trustees in writing and accompanied by a completed “Legal Brief 
Request Form”. 

b. The “Legal Brief Request Form” shall gather the following 
information: 

i. The affiliate making the request 
ii. Case name and court case number 



	

iii. Case history and current status 
iv. The briefing schedule if available, otherwise probable filing 

deadlines 
v. Identify any county(s) that are a party to the case and/or any 

county(s) that would oppose or would be expected to oppose 
WACO’s participation in the case 

vi. An explanation on how a WACO brief would add a new or 
different perspective to the issue(s), and how the results 
sought would be of benefit to the affiliate(s)’ members 

vii. A catalog of resources available to assist in the preparation 
of the brief 

3. Who Authorizes Participation in a Legal Brief 
a. Authorization to participate in a legal brief rests with the WACO 

Board of Trustees in consultation with WACO staff and a committee 
of experts. 

b. If time is limited preventing discussion by the full Board of Trustees, 
the Executive Officers of the Board of Trustees may authorize 
participation in a legal brief. 

c. WACO will use a committee comprised of policy, political, and legal 
experts to review cases and provide recommendations prior to 
committing to an amicus brief. 
 

 
 

Adopted the Xth day of XXX XXX by the WACO Board of Trustees 

























































Washington Association of County Officials Communications Update, December 2018. 

Prior to evaluating performance measures for the four stated goals, WACO staff 
conducted an evaluation of the communications’ infrastructure. The following 
table outlines in the findings of the evaluation’s “initial state” and a brief update 
on the current status of improvements. 

Initial State Update 
Audio 

WACO does not currently record or provide 
audio for any meetings. 

WACO offers webinar a/v meeting services and 
provides video and audio capture if desired. 
WACO evaluated creating podcasts – though 
have not launched a campaign to date. 

Branding 
WACO has not applied branding in any sense 
of uniformity. 

Templates for many publications and materials 
were created, and have been extensively 
utilized in the past 3 plus years. 

Infographics 
WACO currently doesn’t create infographics. WACO has used extensive infographics in 

legislative advocacy, “Know Your County 
Officials” campaigns, over social media and on 
many publications. 

Photography and Video 
Photography is limited to a few shots taken by 
low-res cellphone or iPad based platforms or 
provided by partner groups. There is no video 
use. 

WACO has extensively created video training 
videos, informational videos, “Know Your 
County Officials” videos; incorporated live 
streaming and webinars; and actively 
documented utilizing still images events and 
meetings. WACO has worked with Thurston 
County Media to use gear, and to screen 
content on one of two public television 
channels. 

Social Media 
WACO had very little social media presence, 
with non-uniform usage, no policy for usage, 
and multiple accounts on the same platform. 
There were issues with terms of use as well. 

WACO consolidated rogue accounts, came into 
terms of use compliance, applied best practices 
and continues to grow social media in reach 
and usage. 

Website 
The website was built on an old html only 
model and had been inconsistently maintained. 

A new site was launched in Oct. 2015 with a 
full content management system in place. We 
have collocated the scholarship, ClerkShare, 
and WSACT websites to the same architecture. 



Washington Association of County Officials Communications Update, December 2018. 

GOAL ONE: INCREASE THE QUALITY AND CONSISTENCY IN ALL WACO 
COMMUNICATIONS 

When first addressing goal one, the focus tended to be on branding and creating 
a more standardized set of products. Prior to 2015 there were several templates 
and usage models being used simultaneously. The early work was to reign in that 
issue as much as possible.  

Additionally, there was no early process for review – which caused some quality 
control issues. After the Communications Director sought for a better process-
oriented approach, many of the QC issues have been reigned in at the staff level. 

Goal Update 
Establish Presentation Standards 

All published WACO products will adhere to 
publication standards. 

WACO has created design templates for 
letters, memos, power points, press releases, 
and much more. Additionally, we have 
standardized our branding online, in social 
media, and in video production. 



Washington Association of County Officials Communications Update, December 2018. 

GOAL TWO: EDUCATE WASHINGTON RESIDENTS ABOUT THE ROLES OF 
THE ELECTED COUNTY OFFICIALS BY BEING A SOURCE OF TRUSTED, 
ACCURATE INFORMATION 

While the two performance measures of this goal were website oriented, much of 
the work has been more comprehensive. In December 2015 the Board of 
Trustees discussed the “Know Your County Officials” campaign; and since the 
2016 legislative session WACO has increased its production of legislative 
oriented materials to provide information to the general public, stakeholders, and 
the legislature. 

The “Know Your County Officials” campaign was born out of the Strategic Plan 
2017-2019 Goal 3, “Increase awareness about county officials and their 
functions,” mandate. This goal was elaborated in objective a, “Develop materials 
to effectively describe the work of county officials and county services,” and the 
subsection 1, “Identify potential opportunities to tell the story.” Additionally, it 
addresses objective b, “share the story with every Washington State legislator 
and stakeholders,” subsection 1, “Develop materials and messages to educate 
other elected officials about what each member’s responsibility is and how it 
relates to the responsibility of running their office.” 

In early 2016 WACO launched the “Washington County Government” webpage 
(http://countyofficials.org/233/Washington-County-Government) to highlight the 
roles and responsibilities of the elected county officials. The site provides 
infographic resources, links to download informational materials, as well as 
videos in the “Know Your County Officials” series. 

In conjunction with the website launch, WACO and affiliate leadership revised the 
Washington County Government booklet. The booklet’s ninth edition, and first 
revision in 12 years, is a highly requested informational piece by schools, 
legislators, civic groups, and more. The information contained in the booklet 
feeds the “Know Your County Officials” video programs, infographic 
development, as well as provides information for members to use when holding 
public civic engagement events. 

In 2018, WACO staff, as well as elected Assessors, Treasurers, and Auditors 
participated in a civic education event at the Evergreen State College. The event 
will serve as a launch pad for growth – with contacts being made at other 
regional schools to host such events.  

Over the course of the last two and half years WACO has partnered with 
Thurston County Media (TCM) to utilize their facilities and equipment to produce 
much of our video content. In addition to using equipment, the “Know Your 



Washington Association of County Officials Communications Update, December 2018. 

County Officials” videos, and other civic engagement video content has aired on 
two of their public television channels. 

Goal Update 
Create Back-End Filing System (online) 

In conjunction with a website redesign, ensure 
that a new file structure fits within the context of 
the front end. 

WACO’s current website utilizes a content 
management system (CMS) that features an 
updateable, versionable, back-end filing 
system. 

Re-launch a New WACO Website 
Within six months launch a new website with a 
new CMS that incorporates modern web 
features such as RSS, social media integration, 
blogging, etc. 

The new website launched October 2015. It is 
updated frequently – and will receive a refresh 
within the next calendar year. 



Washington Association of County Officials Communications Update, December 2018. 

GOAL THREE: GROW THE ASSOCIATION’S AUDIENCE 

Broadly, WACO’s audience has grown. For the most part, WACO has shattered 
the initial performance measures of goal three. The noted exception being the 
33% media open rate (we have reached 31.6%) – but even that comes with a 
caveat.  

The total number of outlets our press mailings go to is 820% larger than prior to 
undertaking the Communications Plan. With a list that large 31.6% still is larger 
than the entire totality of the pre-plan list, much less the number represented by 
33% opens of the original list (the original goal).  

There is still work to be made – the world of print journalism is shrinking; contacts 
are moving out of journalism, and you have to constantly monitor new ones.   

Goal Update 
Increase Web Traffic on WACO Website 

Meet a 30% increase of “average monthly 
traffic” by 12 months. 

Since year end 2015 WACO’s website has 
seen an increase of 188% in average monthly 
traffic. 

Implement Social Media Policies and Procedures 
Revisit social media policy after one year The social media policy is reviewed annually to 

ensure alignment with best practices – and 
changes in the social media technology. 

Increase Association Social Media Presence 
Increase engagement by 10% after one year, 
and followers by 300%. 

Since launch Twitter has had a 954% increase 
in followers, a 156% increase in average 
monthly engagement from end of the year 2015 
– with tends increasing each year.

Increase News Outlet Opens of WACO News Releases 
Have a 33% open rate targeted for news 
releases. Create the ability to provide analytic 
reports of trends, maintain list stability of 5%. 

Press releases currently have an average open 
rate of 31.6% utilizing both Mailchimp 
(newsletter) and the Civic Notify Me (rss/text) 
methods. The list stability is within 5% of 
contacts not opting out or bouncing back, and 
WACO is able to provide analytic data. 



Washington Association of County Officials Communications Update, December 2018. 

GOAL FOUR: IMPROVE MEMBER COMMUNICATIONS 

As discussed in March 2015, much of the initial performance goals were lofty 
from the beginning, and based on little or no accrued data to create a well-
informed measure off of a data based baseline. While we had some idea of 
where we were, and wanted to go, we had to do so with little in the way of data to 
guide us. This has been rectified, and now we have ample data to look at our 
progress and where to improve. 

The Strategic Plan 2017-2019 Goal 1, “Increase member participation and 
demonstrate the unique value of WACO to members” part D, “Maintain the 
Courthouse Journal’” provides a clear directive to continue producing the 
Courthouse Journal (CHJ). The CHJ was re-launched in early 2015, and quickly 
moved from a PDF format to a newsletter format that provided list management 
and analytic tracking. 

In addition to the Courthouse Journal, WACO provides regular updates regarding 
education and legislation. Specifically during the legislative session WACO 
provides each affiliate a data report with the frequency and distribution list 
dictated by the affiliate leadership (report via lobbygov). This report then can be 
used by the affiliate for it’s own augmenting and reporting. This report is 
supplemented with a weekly data report containing all affiliate data for further 
dissemination from affiliate leadership (report emailed by WACO staff). 

The weekly data reports are supplemented with an all membership weekly 
legislative newsletter called the “Legislative Hotsheet” sent via Mailchimp in the 
same manner as the CHJ. This newsletter is a narrative detail of the events of 
the last week, what to look for next week, and contains links and news pieces on 
the legislative session. It is further augmented by a weekly webinar (gotowebinar) 
that all WACO members are invited to view for further information regarding the 
legislative session. 

In 2016 WACO produced the first Annual Report in recent memory. The 2015 
Annual Report was the first report to gather data, survey information, and 
progress on the three WACO priority areas – legislation, education, and 
communication. Additionally, the report provided a fiscal overview of the year 
covered. WACO has since produced an annual report for all subsequent years. 

In addition to being placed online and sent to the membership via email, printed 
reports were provided to all registered members during the annual WACO 
conference, and have been shared with new members, stakeholders, and more 
throughout the course of the calendar year. 



Washington Association of County Officials Communications Update, December 2018. 

Goal Update 
Increase Membership Opens of Courthouse Journal 

50% open rate for CHJ a year from baseline 
data.  

Create ability to provide analytic reporting. 

Maintain list stability within a margin of 5%. 

The initial goal’s baseline was set on one 
mailing – which skewed the original goal 
slightly. Though we have not reached 50%, and 
consistently work on technical hurdles to 
increase accessibility.  

We have had a positive trend each year and 
currently have a 41% readership rating - and 
have reached a high of 46% in the past year.  

Additionally we have augmented the 
“Newsletter” style with a launched CHJ blog – 
as well as other info mailings (such as weekly 
legislative reports) to increase 
communication/awareness.  

The industry standard for such communications 
is between 21-26% readership. 

 Analytic reporting capabilities have been 
created. 

The list stability is less than 1%. 
Increase Survey Participation 

Increase response rate by 75% The initial performance goal was based on the 
first survey receiving a 51% response rate. 
However, after an exhaustive search for 
data/records conducted later in 2015 – it was 
determined that the response rate prior to 2015 
on average was 28%, much lower than 51%.  

The average response rate over the past year 
has been 56%, with a high of 74%. WACO staff 
will continue to push for eliminating IT 
roadblocks, and better communicate the need 
for increase response and engagement in order 
to push closer to sustaining a 75% response 
rate. 

Launch Peer-to-Peer Communication Tool 
Launch peer-to-peer communication portal 
within one year. 

In October 2015 WACO launched the WACO 
Town Hall forum for members to utilize. Like 
the previous WACO forum, it has been under 
utilized, in part by public disclosure concerns – 
as well as general disinterest. WACO will 
explore whether to maintain this product in the 
future. 



Washington Association of County Officials Communications Update, December 2018. 

APPENDICES 

Images i and ii illustrate the deference in the WACO website prior to re-launch and now. The pre October 
2015 website was all text, updated sporadically, with no cohesive design. Additionally it was mostly on one 
page and hard to find information not on the top of the page. The post 10/2015 webpage is a page that 
changes with need, mobile responsive, and social media integrated. It hosts videos and has a robust CMS. 

Chart i (left) illustrates the average monthly views and users on the website by year. Chart ii (right) tracks 
the annual impressions (reach/engagement metric) for twitter by month/year. 

Charts iii and iv illustrate Courthouse Journal readership with both annual and monthly reporting. 


	Agenda
	4. Minutes
	5. a. WACO Scholarship Program Policy
	5. b. WACO Scholarship Funding
	5. d. Legal Brief Policy
	5. g. Post Conference Report
	8. Audit Committee Report
	12. Communications Report



